)7

<

CITY OF NOVATO
CALIFORNIA

PLANNING COMMISSION

Meeting Minutes

Monday, July 25, 2022 - 7:00 pm*

A. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL

*The Planning Commission meeting began at 7:30 PM due to a technical issue related to the
broadcast system used allow internet based participation.

Commission Present: Chair Peter Tiernan, Commissioner Bill Crockett, Commissioner Dan
Dawson, Commissioner Justin Derby, Commissioner Ron Gerber, and Commissioner Curtis Havel

Commission Absent: Vice Chair Lia Heath

Staff Present: Planning Manager Steve Marshall, Senior Planner Vivek Damodaran, Community
Development Director Vicki Parker

B. APPROVAL OF FINAL AGENDA
COMMISSION ACTION: Upon motion by Commissioner Dawson and seconded by
Commissioner Gerber, the Planning Commission voted 6-0-0-1 via roll call to approve the final
agenda.
AYES: Commissioners Gerber, Derby, Crockett, Havel, Dawson, and Tiernan
NOES: None
ABSTAIN: None
ABSENT: Vice Chair Heath

Motion carried.

C. PUBLIC COMMENT

No public comments.
D. CONSENT ITEM

NONE

Page | 1 Phone No. (415) 899-8900
novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213


https://novato.org/

E. UNFINISHED AND OTHER BUSINESS
NONE

F. PUBLIC HEARING

F.1. HOMEWARD BOUND — WORKFORCE & VETERAN HOUSING
PRECISE DEVELOPMENT PLAN; P2021-089
DESIGN REVIEW; P2019-055
CEQA EXEMPT: CEQA GUIDELINES SECTION 15183
APN 157-970-07; PARCEL SOUTH OF 1385 HAMILTON PKWY.

Conduct a public hearing to consider and possibly adopt: (1) a resolution recommending the City
Council adopt CEQA findings and determine that no further environmental review is required
pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15183; and (2) a resolution recommending the City Council
approve a precise development plan and design review for Homeward Bound of Marin’'s
Workforce & Veteran Housing project that includes 50 residential apartment units and a 10,800
square foot commercial/training kitchen and event gathering space at the parcel south of 1385
Hamilton Parkway, APN 157-970-07.

Senior Planner Damodaran presented the staff report for the Homeward Bound of Marin — Workforce &
Veteran Housing project.

Mary Kay Sweeney of Homeward Bound of Marin provided brief history of Homeward Bound of Marin’s
campus development and also thanked staff and the City for their time.

Paul Fordham of Homeward Bound of Marin provided an overview of the operational components of the
project and addressed the need for the proposed housing type in Marin County. Mr. Fordham briefly
discussed funding sources and the financing components associated with a non-profit proposing this type of
project.

Chair Tiernan invited commissioners to ask questions.

Commissioner Gerber asked staff whether state density bonus law applies to this type of project and whether
the applicant may have the opportunity to increase the number of units and density proposed.

Planning Manager Marshall responded the City owns the project site and the site is being leased to
Homeward Bound of Marin. The terms of the ground lease agreement stipulate a total of 50 residential units.
If a state density bonus was requested by the applicant it would need to be part of a lease negotiation.

Commissioner Crockett observed the proposed architecture and design is reminiscent of the existing Next
Key and New Beginnings Center and asked the applicant if this was intentional.

Pat Cousens, the project architect, confirmed the goal was to continue the existing architectural theme
throughout the Homeward Bound campus. Mr. Cousens mentioned he and his team were the original
architects of the Next Key and New Beginnings Center, as such, they purposefully drew inspiration from the
existing architecture in order to facilitate cohesion between the existing and proposed buildings.

Commissioner Havel asked what makes the Homeward Bound program successful.

Page | 2 Phone No. (415) 899-8900
novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213


https://novato.org/

Mr. Fordham responded that Homeward Bound offers a range of programs and tailors their services to meet
different needs. Mr. Fordham provided examples of the housing types and services provided through
Homeward Bound’s programs. Mr. Fordham explained that Homeward Bound’s program has operated
successfully because they work with individuals and try to identify how they can best serve each person.

Commissioner Havel commented that its accurate to say Homeward Bound invests in people and it is up to
people to accept those resources.

Mr. Fordham affirmed Commissioner Havel's understanding and noted resources are offered in a dignified
manner.

Commissioner Havel asked whether the veteran housing component of the project would only be available
to veterans experiencing homelessness in Novato or Marin County or would others outside of Marin may
qualify as well.

Mr. Fordham clarified that this portion of the program is primarily for veterans experiencing homelessness in
Marin County. He added that Homeward Bound works with the Veterans Administration to identify veterans
experiencing homelessness in Marin County.

Commissioner Havel asked the applicant to clarify who the 26 units of workforce housing would serve.

Mr. Fordham explained these units are intended for people that are working in the community but cannot
afford to rent anywhere in the area and unfortunately end up homeless and in shelters.

Commissioner Havel asked the applicant if there were any concerns about security and if there is anything
in place to help with security.

Mr. Fordham responded that they don’t have any concerns about security based on their track record. He
explained that they currently have 32 units and a shelter with 80 beds that has been there since 2000. He
elaborated that they have not had any major issues and that they work very closely with local law enforcement
if any issues do come up. Mr. Fordham stated the campus is very safe; they always have 24/7 staffing. He
stated they work very closely with the people living there and many of them don’t have other places to go so
people embrace the opportunity to live in this community.

Commissioner Gerber asked if Homeward Bound works with the county to find Section 8 vouchers to identify
alternate housing options for tenants.

Mr. Fordham responded that their program works with folks to sign up for vouchers and identify alternative
housing options when those opportunities are available. Mr. Fordham also provided the Commission with an
overview of how the voucher system and housing navigation assistance works.

Chair Tiernan opened the public comment period.

Bob Puett, board president of Homeward Bound of Marin, explained that this proposal is the culmination of
Homeward Bound’s campus project that began in 1992. He discussed how they have been good neighbors
to the community, which has contributed to lowering the neighborhood concerns surrounding their projects
over the years. Mr. Puett also acknowledged the best way to honor Hamilton Field is using a portion of the
former military base to house veterans.

Chair Tiernan closed the public comment period.

Page | 3 Phone No. (415) 899-8900
novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213


https://novato.org/

Commissioner Derby expressed support for the project.
Commissioner Crockett was supportive of the project and Homeward Bound’s mission.

Commissioner Havel acknowledged Homeward Bound’s tremendous contribution to the community and that
the model they use is very important. He expanded by explaining his familiarity with the process of working
with individuals experiencing homelessness, the complexity of the systems in place to receive support and
services, and noting how Homeward Bound’s model is a great asset for the community. He closed by
expressing his support for the project.

Chair Tiernan expressed his support for the project. He elaborated that the project represents completion of
the existing Homeward Bound campus and maintains an overall cohesion with existing buildings, which is a
good use for the site. He also acknowledged the proposed use will be serving a huge community need.

Upon a motion by Commissioner Havel and seconded by Commissioner Derby the Planning
Commission voted 6-0-0-1 via roll call to adopt the resolution recommending the City Council adopt
CEQA findings pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15183 and determine that no further
environmental review is required for Homeward Bound of Marin’s Workforce & Veteran Housing
project, which includes 50 residential apartment units and a 10,800 square foot commercial/training
kitchen and event gathering space at the parcel south of 1385 Hamilton Parkway (APN 157-970-07),
including a Precise Development Plan and Design Review.

AYES: Commissioners Gerber, Derby, Crockett, Haven, Dawson, and Tiernan
NOES: None

ABSTAIN: None

ABSENT: Vice Chair Heath

Motion carried.

Upon a motion by Commissioner Derby and second by Commissioner Dawson the Planning
Commission voted 6-0-0-1 via roll call to adopt the resolution recommending the City Council approve
a Precise Development Plan and Design Review for Homeward Bound of Marin’s Workforce & Veteran
Housing project, which includes 50 residential apartment units and a 10,800 square foot
commercial/training kitchen and event gathering space at the parcel south of 1385 Hamilton Parkway
(APN 157-970-07).

AYES: Commissioners Gerber, Derby, Crockett, Haven, Dawson, and Tiernan
NOES: None

ABSTAIN: None

ABSENT: Vice Chair Heath

Motion carried.

Page | 4 Phone No. (415) 899-8900
novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213


https://novato.org/

G. GENERAL BUSINESS

G.1. Housing Element Study Session

This Housing Element Update study session will present the results from the
extended community polling which was initiated at the meeting of July 11th and will
focus on sites and draft approach to rezoning. During the session, the City's housing
development pipeline numbers will be presented alongside potential capacity of
certain identified rezone sites. The discussion will include detailed information on
density and total unit counts.

Director Parker introduced the item. She mentioned the discussion would focus on potential housing sites
with some repeat information from the prior housing workshop for context. She mentioned the majority of
housing sites consist of parcels with proposals already in the project pipeline. As such, some may fall-out of
the pipeline and require substitute sites. She noted the ongoing review of the pipeline sites for compliance
criteria related to affirmatively advancing fair housing. She mentioned three potential sites require rezoning
and these sites were brought forward for consideration by their respective owner.

David Bergman of Lisa Wise Consulting gave a PowerPoint presentation providing background on the
housing element update process and its requirements and an accounting of the City’s Regional Housing
Needs Allocation (RHNA) versus the unit yields of the projects and sites being considered for housing
development.

Commissioner Gerber inquired about the zoning of site at 5 San Andreas Drive. He noted the site is
designated R4.

Director Park stated the rezone is necessary to apply proper zoning.

Commissioner Derby asked whether the plan is to use existing zoning standards or new standards for
housing.

Director Parker referenced the City’s ongoing work to develop objective design standards. Some sites will
rely on general objective design standards, others will have project specific objective design standards. There
is the possibility that zoning overlays will be used.

Commissioner Derby noted the housing market is changing quickly and developers want flexibility in form
based codes — he emphasized the need for zoning standards to be flexible.

Commissioner Crockett asked how the rezones would occur.

Director Parker stated the City will process the rezones along with the Housing Element update. Staff will be
working with some applicants to create objective standards for specific projects.

Page | 5 Phone No. (415) 899-8900
novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213


https://novato.org/

Commissioner Crockett noted there were few participants in the polling process. He asked if more targeted
outreach would occur.

Director Parker explained the outreach efforts that have been performed to date.
Commissioner Crockett commented that objective design standards seemed to be a disincentive to creativity.
Director Parker addressed the approach to objective design standards, site design, and finish details.

Commissioner Havel observed the public outreach process is open, but people are being indifferent. He
added that Novato is a community pushing forward on affordable housing, but the biggest challenge is
communication and getting participation. The housing discussion needs to go beyond a particular site and
expand to envision what the community will look like in the future. He suggested getting local high school
students involved in the process.

Commissioner Dawson noted having gone through the last housing element update process and how people
viewed the sites in the abstract until a site was located in their backyard. He commented the San Andreas
site was unlikely to stay vacant forever. He stated the low input on the survey was unfortunate.

Chair Tiernan stated the San Andrea site makes sense. He said he could envision the sites at Meadow Crest
and Novato Boulevard for housing and asked when rezoning might occur.

Director Parker stated rezonings associated with the housing element update are to occur within 2 years.
She emphasized the rezones are not intended to add housing capacity beyond what is needed for an
adequate housing element.

Consultant Bergman noted the process the Department of Housing and Community Development takes when
reviewing housing elements.

Chair Tiernan noted the downtown was favored for housing based on the survey data. He commented that
infill housing development makes sense.

Chair Tiernan opened the public comment period.

Susan Stompe inquired if the PowerPoint presentation would be available. She also asked if the project at
4" and Grant is factored into the site discussion.

Chair Tiernan noted the presentation will be posted to the City’s website. He also confirmed the 4" and Grant
proposal is factored in.

Director Parker confirmed the presentation will be posted on the housing element webpage along with the
matrix of potential housing sites.

Page | 6 Phone No. (415) 899-8900
novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213


https://novato.org/

Madeline Kellner noted her experience with a housing element update as a former councilmember and noted
there is a lot of potential for a misunderstanding. She asked what process is being used to get the message
out.

Director Parker explained the public outreach process building up to this point and will see what sites gain
City Council interest their meeting of August 23. Outreach involves some 1,900 email addresses, social media
postings, and the posting several different notices.

Chair Tiernan asked Ms. Kellner if she had additional input.

Ms. Kellner emphasized being clear with talking points and wherever sites are located, whether in the San
Marin Improvement Associate area or Partridge Knolls Il, get something out. People don’'t understand the
means and timing of this process.

Chair Tiernan closed the public comment period.

Commissioner Gerber stated a good FAQ works well for providing information. He noted state law is driving
the update and the City is only responsible for setting the table for housing. He asked what happens once
the housing element is submitted to the State.

Director Parker noted the Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD) has mandates to
respond within certain time frames — 90 days for first response and then 60-days thereafter to comment on
revisions up to certification.

Consultant Bergman clarified the state views housing elements from the perspective of whether an element
is in substantial compliance with state law and has 60-days to review each revision to the draft housing
element.

Commissioner Gerber asked to confirm that once the housing element is accepted by HCD and its approved
by the City Council then is it part of the General Plan.

Consultant Bergman confirmed it is the intended function of state law that the updated housing element
become part of a general plan.

Commissioner Derby noted The Square was on the community input list. He asked for an update on the site.

Director Parker stated The Square was not included in the sites list because the owner has not shown a
willingness to redevelop the property.

Commissioner Crockett said the housing element update was an opportunity for an overall vision for housing,
such as at the school site (San Andreas) and in downtown, as well as possibly activating aging strip malls.
He emphasized finding ways to draw people into the process and liked the suggestion to get high school
students involved. He also suggest connecting with neighborhoods, the School District, and downtown
merchants. He felt housing could be transformative for subpar retail locations.

Page | 7 Phone No. (415) 899-8900
novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213


https://novato.org/

Director Parker stated the housing element is a nuts and bolts chapter of the general plan since HCD’s
regulations are prescriptive whereas other elements are more aspirational. She noted the School District has
a desire for more teacher housing and there is no office market so the properties at Wood Hollow and Novato
Boulevard/7™ Street are thought to be better used for housing.

Commissioner Gerber noted the owners of The Square came forward with a mixed use project, but it was
withdrawn. He noted CVS was possibly closing stores, but wasn’t sure if the CVS at The Square would be
impacted. He also commented there has been no grocery anchor at the center for 15-years. He wondered
whether it might be worth talking to the owners.

Director Parker confirmed having had a conversation with the owners about the property. She agreed that
housing could be a higher and better use.

Commissioner Derby indicated The Square could be rezoned to allow housing and see if a change might
happen. He recommended giving more consideration to The Square.

Commissioner Dawson reflected on his understanding of the prior mixed use proposal for The Square. The
neighborhood essentially didn’t want to lose the shopping center.

Commissioner Gerber suggested it might be possible to keep some retail if the market can support it.

Director Parker stated the matter could be reconsidered if the owner comes forward and shows a
commitment.

H. COMMITTEE AND LIAISON REPORTS
NONE
. ADJOURNMENT
The Planning Commission adjourned the meeting at 9:28 PM.
| HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing minutes were duly adopted at the Planning Commission
meeting of October 10, 2022.

[Steve Marshall/

Steve Marshall, Planning Manager

Page | 8 Phone No. (415) 899-8900
novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213


https://novato.org/

